A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The court erred in finding appellant competent to stand trial 

III the absence of observing adequate procedures for determining 

competency mandated by due process and chapter 10.77 RCW. CP 124-

25. 

2. The court violated appellant's right to counsel under the 

Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution in denying appellant's 

motion to discharge counsel. CP 37. 

3. The court erred in sentencing appellant to life in prison as a 

persistent offender. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. After finding reason to doubt competency, whether the 

court violated due process and statutory mandate by proceeding to trial 

without first holding a formal evidentiary hearing to determine appellant's 

competency? 

2. Whether the court erred in failing to appoint new counsel 

due to inadequate inquiry into the extent of appellant's conflict with his 

attorneys and breakdown in communication? 

3. Whether the court erred in treating a prior conviction as a 

"most serious offense" under the "three strikes" law in sentencing 
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appellant to life without the possibility of parole because that pnor 

conviction was constitutionally invalid on its face? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The State charged Louis McGowen with three counts of second 

degree assault and two counts of felony harassment committed against 

Debra Barraza, alleging these were aggravated domestic violence offenses. 

CP 41-44. The State also sought deadly weapon enhancements for the 

felony harassment under count II and the second degree assault under 

count III. CP 42-43. 

On December 2, 2010, defense counsel requested a competency 

evaluation for McGowen, expressing concern about his ability to 

rationally assist with his own defense. lRPI 2.2 Counsel was reluctant to 

speak freely in open court for fear of violating confidentiality, but 

described manic and pressured speech, paranoia, lack of eye contact, and a 

refusal to discuss the case beyond saying "I didn't do it." 1 RP 2-3. 

I The verbatim report of proceedings is referenced as follows: lRP -
12/2/10; 2RP - 2114/11; 3RP - 3/28/11; 4RP - 411111; 5RP - 4/6/11; 6RP-
4/7/11; 7RP - 4112111; 8RP - 4/l3/11; 9RP - 4114/11; 10RP - 4/18111; 
llRP - 5/5111; 12RP - 6/7/11; l3RP - 6/8111; 14RP - 6/9111; 15RP -
6113111; 16RP - 6114111; 17RP - 6115111; 18RP - 6/16111; 19RP - 6/20111; 
20RP - 6/21111; 21RP - 6/22111; 22RP - 6/23111; 23RP - 6/28111; 24RP-
6/29111; 25RP - 6/30111; 26RP - 7/5111 (initial); 27RP - 7/5111 
(subsequent); 28RP - 7/6111; 29RP - 7/7111; 30RP - 7/8/11; 31RP -
9/16/11; 32RP - 9/23111; 33RP - 5/11112. 
2 McGowen had two attorneys. 1 RP 2. 
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Counsel further reported that McGowen planned to testify but would not 

describe what he planned to say. 1 RP 3. He refused to go over reports or 

assess the evidence. 1 RP 3. He refused to see a defense psychiatrist. 1 RP 

3. In connection with a 1997 case, McGowen was diagnosed with a major 

depressive disorder, a psychotic disorder secondary to opiates, heroin 

dependence and amnesic disorder secondary to opiates. 1 RP 3. Overall, 

counsel had come to the conclusion that "there are major issues with his 

inability to work with us." 1RP 4. 

The prosecutor deferred to the court and counsel. 1RP 5. The 

Honorable Palmer Robinson, finding a reason to doubt competency, 

signed an order for a Western State Hospital (WSH) evaluation. 1RP 5; 

CP 354-58. Dr. Gagliardi, a WSH psychologist, produced an 

"abbreviated" written report concluding McGowen was competent. CP 

31-36. McGowen was observed during a 24 hour period speaking and 

interacting normally with select peers and staff. CP 33. He answered 

questions during the intake mental status examination. CP 33. But he 

refused to be interviewed for the evaluation. CP 34. The evaluator did not 

know why McGowen refused to consult with his attorneys. CP 34. 

On February 14, 2011, the prosecutor represented that defense 

counsel had told him that they would ask the court to read the WSH report. 

2RP 2. The prosecutor asked the court to conduct a colloquy with 
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McGowen and determine competency. 2RP 2. The Honorable Ronald 

Kessler asked defense counsel "So you're doing a contested hearing based 

upon the report alone, is that what's happening?" 2RP 3. Defense counsel 

described continuing difficulties with assessing McGowen, concluding 

"his profound depression is making him really unable to rationally assist 

counsel in his defense, and we certainly can't agree that -- sign off on an 

Order agreeing that he is competent given those circumstances." 2RP 4. 

Counsel reiterated that McGowen did not respond to counsel and refused 

to speak with the WSH evaluator or Dr. McClung, the defense evaluator. 

2RP 3. 

Judge Kessler asked McGowen to tell him what he was charged 

with. 2RP 4. McGowen said he did not know. 2RP 4. Judge Kessler 

asked McGowen to tell him who his lawyers were and whether he ever 

had a lawyer before, but received no response. 2RP 4. 

The prosecutor opined McGowen's behavior was willful. 2RP 4. 

Defense counsel responded that, according to Dr. McClung, depression 

can so immobilize a person that he becomes incompetent and unable to 

participate in his defense. 2RP 5. Counsel maintained "we don't really 

have any expert evaluation from either the State or from our very own 

expert" and expressed discomfort about going to trial "with somebody that 

seems so profoundly depressed he's unable to help us." 2RP 5. 
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Judge Kessler stated he read the report prepared by Dr. Gagliardi 

and "[b ]ased upon that report, arguments of counsel, and the Court's 

colloquy with Mr. McClung [sic], in particular, based upon the statement 

contained on page three of the report, 'He was capable of normal 

conversations with select peers and staff, but he refused to cooperate with 

clinical evaluators; he interacted normally with peers and some staff,' 

while the Court understands the Defense is hamstrung, the Court believes 

that the hamstrung is a result of willfulness, not incompetency, and finds 

the Defendant is competent to stand trial and will left [sic] the stay." 2RP 

5. Judge Kessler entered written findings and conclusion to that effect. 

CP 38-39. 

Counsel asked McGowen if he still wanted them to be his lawyers. 

2Rp 5. McGowen said no and maintained "God is my lawyer from now 

on. I don't know no lawyer." 2RP 5-6. Counsel told the court that he 

believed McGowen was making a pro se motion to discharge counsel. 

2RP 6. McGowen affirmed "That's right." 2RP 6. The following 

exchange occurred: 

The Court: All right. Well, the Court cannot, if Mr. 
McClung won't even tell me what he's charged with --
Ms. McCoy: Mr. McGowen. 
The Court: Mr. McGowen, I'm sorry, won't even tell me 
what he's charged with --
Mr. McGowen: I don't know what I'm charged with. 
The Court: All right. Well, I don't believe that and --
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Mr. McGowen: Yeah, well, I don't understand. I don't 
know what I'm charged with; and that's the truth. 
The Court: Do you understand the maximum penalty for 
the crimes you're charged with is 10 years injail? 
Mr. McGowen: No, I don't understand that either. 
The Court: Yeah, okay. Well, I don't find a knowing, 
voluntary and intelligent waiver of counsel. Having found 
the Defendant is acting willfully, I don't --
Mr. McGowen: That's not the problem. I'm not saying that 
I'm incompetent. I'm very competent. I'm ready to go to 
trial and I know that the people that's representing me don't 
have my best interest. So I'm not incompetent; that's not 
the problem. I understand very well what's going on. I 
don't want these people representing me. God is my 
representative. 
The Court: All right. I don't find that -- I still don't find that 
this is a knowing, voluntary and intelligent waiver of 
counsel. 

2RP 6-7. 

The court entered a written order "denying defendant's motion to 

proceed pro se," which stated "the defendant would not or could not tell 

the court his charges or maximum penalty, therefore the court does not 

find knowing, intelligent, voluntary waiver of right to counseL" CP 37. 

On April 1, 2011 at a hearing presided over by the Honorable 

Theresa Doyle, defense counsel put on the record that McGowen had not 

communicated with counsel for many months. 4RP 7-8. McGowen, who 

was in court that day, sat at a 90 degree angle staring out the window. 

4RP 8. Counsel still had competency concerns but had no new 

information to make another motion for a competency evaluation. 4RP 8-
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9. Counsel wanted to gIve McGowen an opportunity to request new 

counselor proceed pro se. 4RP 8. The court asked McGowen if he 

wanted to address the court. 4RP 9. McGowen did not respond, and 

continued to look out the window with his back to defense counsel. 4RP 9. 

On April 6, 2011, at a hearing presided over by the Honorable 

Kimberley Prochnau, McGowen was dressed in his red jail uniform. 5RP 

11. The judge told him that he needed to change into civilian clothes once 

the jury came in and asked if there was anything he wanted to say about 

that. 5RP 11-12. The judge noted for the record that McGowen faced 

away toward the wall. 5RP 12. The judge said it would be to his benefit 

to look interested in front of the jury. 5RP 12. 

Defense counsel went through the history of competency concerns 

but had no change to report that would trigger a new request for a 

competency evaluation. 5RP 12-14. McGowen had not spoken in court 

since Judge Kessler's hearing on February 14, 2011. 5RP 14. Counsel 

had never had a client that did not talk to her and did not know where he 

was coming from in terms of whether he had a motion to represent himself 

or discharge counsel. 5RP 14. The judge asked McGowen about that, but 

he did not respond and did not tum his head towards the judge. 5RP 15. 

The prosecutor represented that he had listened to McGowen's jail 

calls and he was capable of having a lucid conversation. 5RP 15-16. 
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From this, the prosecutor concluded McGowen was able to speak but 

chose not to. 5RP 15. The judge warned McGowen that his behavior was 

a dangerous strategy if in fact it was a strategy. 5RP 16-17. 

On April 13,2011, the court deemed McGowen to have waived his 

right to wear street clothes but that he could change his mind and wear 

them at any point in the future. 8RP 2-3. Before prospective jurors were 

brought into the courtroom for voir dire, a record was made that 

McGowen wore earplugs. 8RP 7-9. He faced the wall, not looking at the 

judge. 8RP 9. At the court's direction, an officer directed McGowen to 

remove the earplugs, but McGowen said no. 8RP 9-10. The court said it 

was his choice not to hear the proceedings. 8RP 11. 

McGowen continued to wear earplugs on the second day of voir 

dire, shaking his head no when asked by court officer if he wanted to take 

them out. 9RP 2. Defense counsel again raised a potential competency 

issue. 9RP 3-4. Counsel put on the record that on the previous day 

McGowen sat staring at the wall "seeming almost in a catatonic state as 

we're trying to select the jury." 9RP 4. McGowen had not communicated 

with counsel for months. 9RP 3-4. 

The prosecutor opined there was no new information warranting 

further inquiry into competency, again referencing the jail calls during 

which McGowen carried on lucid conversations. 9RP 4-7. Defense 
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counsel reiterated that she was puzzled by McGowen's behavior and 

believed she had to raise the competency issue given the question of 

whether he was in "such a profound depression that he is willing, for want 

of a better word, essentially to commit suicide by not participating in the 

case that has such grave consequences." 9RP 7. 

Judge Prochnau deferred on the matter until she had an opportunity 

to listen to the jail calls. 9RP 7-9. Later that day, when the jail calls were 

offered, defense counsel noted competency can ebb and flow and that the 

stress of trial may affect competency. 9RP 53-54. Counsel equated the 

significance of the jail calls with the perfunctory WSH evaluation that had 

been done earlier, which relied on the lack of psychotic behavior as 

McGowen moved about the floor as the basis to find competency. 9RP 54. 

Counsel was frustrated that McGowen was not giving any direction on 

whether he wanted his two attorneys to represent him. 9RP 54-55. 

During voir dire, several prospective jurors commented on 

McGowen's withdrawn and seemingly indifferent demeanor. 9RP 57-62. 

Later on during voir dire, McGowen disrupted the proceedings with a 

religious-themed outburst about God, the devil and the blood of the lamb. 

9RP 67-70. McGowen was removed from the courtroom. 9RP 69-71. 

McGowen returned to court after a recess, at which point the judge 

admonished McGowen about his behavior. 9RP 72. McGowen said he 
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did not care and that he was going to be sent to prison for the rest of his 

life. 9RP 72-73. The judge said she had listened to the jail calls and he 

appeared capable of having a normal conversation. 9RP 73. She ordered 

his removal from the courtroom after he did not respond to her request that 

he behave himself. 9RP 73-74. Defense counsel objected and raised the 

competency issue again. 9RP 74-78. 

The prosecutor believed McGowen's behavior was intentional 

rather than the product of mental illness, referencing the jail calls and how 

he interacted with people in the jail. 9RP 78-80. Defense counsel 

contended McGowen's competency problems stemming from a pre

existing mental problem flared up in the courtroom because of the 

heightened stress involved in that environment. 9RP 80-82. 

The judge said she would revisit the competency matter at a later 

time. 9RP 82. The judge again asked McGowen if he would behave 

himself, but he did not remove his earplugs and did not answer. 9RP 83-

84. The prosecutor asked for a renewed competency determination before 

proceeding further. 9RP 86-92. Defense counsel renewed a request for 

. another competency evaluation. 9RP 89. Following a recess, McGowen 

refused to return to the courtroom. 9RP 92-94. When defense counsel 

visited him in his jail cell, he kept a shirt over his head and was non

communicative except to answer no when asked if he wanted to come to 
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the courtroom. 9RP 94. The judge decided to release the jury panel. 9RP 

98-100. 

On April 18,2011, McGowen refused to come to court. lORP 2-3. 

Defense counsel continued to express major concerns about competency 

and requested an opportunity to disclose some troubling things at an in 

camera hearing. 10RP 3. Counsel believed McGowen's refusal to come 

to court was a further manifestation of his incompetency. 10RP 6. She 

pointed out McGowen could not waive his right to be present if he was 

incompetent. 10RP 8. 

Later that day, the judge allowed defense counsel to disclose 

information regarding competency concerns in camera. 10RP 15-16, 19-

26. Following the in camera hearing, the jail calls were addressed again, 

with the prosecutor reiterating that they showed McGowen was capable of 

normal communication. 10RP 27-30. Defense counsel responded 

McGowen was capable of having normal interaction, but was not able to 

do so in stressful situations like coming to court. 10RP 30. Counsel 

believed there was an issue of competency both as to capacity to 

understand the nature of the proceeding and the ability to rationally assist 

counsel. 10RP 32-33. Counsel noted that McGowen, who was present in 

court, was currently siting at a 90 degree angle not communicating with 

counsel. 10RP 32-33. A jail officer testified for purpose of addressing 
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the competency issue that he had interacted with McGowen on a limited 

basis and McGowen did not exhibit a problem with comprehension or 

communication during those times. 10RP 37-43 

Following this testimony, the prosecutor argued McGowen's 

behavior was tactical. 10RP 51-52. Defense counsel requested a 

competency evaluation under chapter 10.77 RCW. 10RP 53-56. The 

judge reviewed the evidence before her and, giving weight to defense 

counsel's opinion, ordered another competency evaluation. 10RP 56-57; 

CP 119-23. 

The same WSH doctor who did the previous evaluation completed 

a second evaluation in which he again concluded McGowen was 

competent. CP 126-32; 12RP 2. Again, the WSH examination did not 

include a personal interview or updated testing of McGowen because he 

refused to participate. CP 128-29. 

The competency issue was addressed in court on June 7, 2011. 

12RP 2-8. Defense counsel said she still had very serious concerns about 

McGowen's competency. 12RP 3. McGowen would not speak to the 

defense expert or to the WSH evaluator. 12RP 4. The defense did not 

have an expert report to counter the WSH report, but counsel still had a 

concern about competency. 12RP 4. The prosecutor maintained there was 
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no showing that McGowen was incompetent. 12RP 4-6. McGowen, who 

was present in court, said he was "very competent." 12RP 6. 

Judge Prochnau ruled McGowen was competent, noting (1) WSH 

had twice found McGowen to be competent; (2) there was evidence of 

incompetency in terms of not talking to his attorneys, use of ear plugs, and 

facing the wall, and the outburst during voir dire; (3) the outburst 

indicated he understood the nature of the charges against him insofar as he 

knew the was charged with assault, he understood his defense to be the 

complaining witness's bias and untrustworthiness, and he was aware the 

penalty was life without parole if convicted; (4) the jail calls show he was 

capable of communicating with others; (5) his outbursts appear to be 

purposeful. 12RP 6-8; CP 124-25. 

McGowen later replied no to the judge's question of whether he 

wished to dress in street clothes. 12RP 50. In response to the judge's 

question of whether he would further disrupt proceedings, he said he 

would not. 12RP 50-52. The judge said if there were further disruption, 

McGowen would have the option of observing the proceedings in an 

alternate viewing location. 12RP 50-52. The judge noted McGowen was 

presently engaging with his attorneys in court. 12RP 53. 

On June 8, 2011, shortly before a panel of prospective jurors was 

brought into the courtroom, the judge noted McGowen had fashioned 
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earplugs out of paper and had his head on his anus as though asleep on the 

table. 13RP 21. McGowen did not respond when the judge urged him to 

look like he was paying attention. 13RP 21. A prospective juror 

commented that McGowen looked guilty by the way he was just lying 

there and showing no respect. 13RP 133-35. 

McGowen continued to wear paper earplugs and keep his head 

down on the second day of voir dire. 14RP 83-84, 143. McGowen's 

demeanor was an ongoing topic during voir dire. 14RP 87-90, 100-14, 

119-20, 127, 129-45. One prospective juror described McGowen as 

"rocking back and forth, almost as if he were a child." 14RP 105-06. 

Another commented that the jail clothes made McGowen look guilty. 

14RP 99-100. Outside the presence of the panel, the judge described 

McGowen's demeanor, including his being "slumped down," as a 

voluntary choice that did not make him look good. 14RP 111. 

On June 13,2011, McGowen disrupted voir dire by saying he was 

facing life in person for snatching his girlfriend's phone. 15RP 30. The 

judge found his behavior was intended to cause a mistrial and removed 

McGowen from the courtroom. 15RP 30-37. Defense counsel noted an 

ongoing competency concern and moved for a mistrial. 15RP 36-38, 46. 

The court denied the mistrial motion. 15RP 46. An alternate viewing 

location was set up for McGowen to observe the proceedings. 15RP 32, 
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37-40,47. The outburst was addressed during voir dire. 15RP 47-49,56-

62. 

After the jury was selected, defense counsel raised the competency 

issue again, telling the court that counsel had observed McGowen in the 

alternate viewing room touching animal photos in a National Geographic 

magazine, rocking back and forth, giggling, making religious-themed 

remarks and saying something about people spending money to have sex 

with children. 15RP 76-86. The judge denied a request for a third 

competency evaluation. 15RP 86. 

On June 14, 2011, before the jury was brought in, McGowen was 

in court. 16RP 21. He had his forehead on some Kleenex and earplugs in 

his ears. 16RP 21. He mumbled recitations from the Bible and did not 

speak to counsel. 16RP 21. Counsel again raised the issue of competency, 

but the court found there was no new evidence to support a finding of 

incompetency. 16RP 21. McGowen later refused to come to court and 

was taken to the alternate viewing room. 16RP 36-37. McGowen did not 

come to court during the remainder of trial. See,~, 17RP 3-4, 79; 18RP 

138-39; 19RP 4-5; 20RP 4; 21RP 3-4, 89-90; 22RP 3; 23RP 24-29. 

On June 15, 2011, defense counsel again raised the competency 

issue, informing the court that she had tried to speak with McGowen about 

Barraza's direct testimony and to help her prepare for cross examination, 
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but got nowhere with him. 17RP 87-88, 91. The court agreed with the 

prosecutor that there was no new infonnation presented on lack of 

competency. 17RP 91-92. After the State rested its case, defense counsel 

told the court she had discussed with McGowen whether he wanted to 

testify and he declined to do so after weighing the pros and cons. 23RP 

112. 

After hearing the evidence, a Jury convicted McGowen of the 

lesser crime of misdemeanor harassment on count II and convicted on the 

remaining counts as charged, returning affinnative special verdicts on the 

domestic violence aggravator. CP 136-45. The State sought a sentence of 

life without the possibility of parole under the Persistent Offender 

Accountability Act (POAA), contending McGowen's prior convictions for 

second degree robbery under cause number 97-1-01315-8 and second 

degree robbery under cause number 93-1-04409-3 each constituted a 

"strike" and that the current convictions for second degree assault each 

constituted a third "strike." CP 360-61, 365; 33RP 5. 

Defense counsel argued McGowen's prior 1993 conviction for

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