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

C. ARGUMENT 

1. McGOWEN'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS WAS 
PROTECTED WHEN THE COURT FOLLOWED THE 
PROPER STATUTORY PROCEDURES FOR FINDING 
HIM COMPETENT. 

McGowen claims that the trial court violated his right to due 

process by not following the statutory procedures of RCW 10.77 

before finding him competent to stand trial. However, McGowen cites 

no authority to support his claim that due process required the State's 

expert to testify at his competency hearing. McGowen had no expert 

opinion to contradict the State's written report, McGowen did not 

object to the court's consideration of the State's written report, and 

McGowen did not ask to examine the State's expert in court. The 

court followed proper statutory procedures to find McGowen 

competent. 
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a. Relevant Facts. 

In December of 2010, prior to trial, McGowen's attorneys asked 

that McGowen be evaluated for competency. They were concerned 

about his ability to rationally assist them in his defense. 1 RP 2. 

Counsel reported that McGowen told them that he would testify, but he 

refused to elaborate on what he would say, and he refused to go over 

the discovery or assess the evidence with them. 1 RP 2-3. Defense 

counsel told the court that they had retained their own expert, but 

McGowen had refused to meet with him. 1 RP 3. The court ordered a 

competency evaluation to be conducted at Western State Hospital. 

CP 354-58; 1 RP 5. 

McGowen refused to speak to the evaluators at Western State 

Hospital. CP 32; 2RP 3. He also refused to speak to Dr. McClung, 

the defense-retained expert. 2RP 3. The parties returned to court on 

February 14, 2011, where defense counsel stated on the record, 

"Given that we don't really have any expert evaluation from either the 

State or from our very own expert ... we really can't address what is 

truly going on with Mr. McGowen, except for our true discomfort about 

proceeding to trial with somebody that seems so profoundly depressed 

he's unable to help us." 2RP 3-5. Counsel indicated that they 

"certainly can't agree that - sign off on an order agreeing that his 

competent given those circumstances." 2RP 4. 
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Judge Kessler attempted to engage McGowen in a colloquy, 

but McGowen answered , "I don't know" to a question regarding 

whether he knew what crimes he was charged with, and then refused 

to answer any further questions. 2RP 4. Judge Kessler found 

McGowen competent. 2RP 5. He based his conclusion in particular 

on Dr. Gagliardi's observation that although McGowen had refused to 

speak with the evaluators, he was observed by Western State Hospital 

staff to "interact normally with peers and some staff." 2RP 5; CP 33. 

Judge Kessler determined that McGowen's refusal to cooperate with 

his lawyers was wilful. 2RP 5. 

Trial began in front of Judge Prochnau on April 6, 2011. 5RP 

1-2. During pretrial motions, McGowen refused to face the court or to 

respond to its questions about the importance of wearing street 

clothes for trial. 5RP 11-12. Counsel for McGowen noted the difficulty 

that they had working with their client, but told the court that they had 

no new information regarding competency. 5RP 13. The prosecutor 

had obtained McGowen's jail phone calls, placed as recently as that 

same day, in which McGowen spoke lucidly and demonstrated no 

impairment. kl Judge Prochnau noted that McGowen's behavior was 

"[p]erhaps strategic given the charges he's charged with and the 

potential consequences." 5RP 16-17. 
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Later that day, the court again addressed McGowen about 

changing out of his jail clothes for trial, but McGowen refused to 

answer. 5RP 40-41. However, the jail officer told the court that when 

he had taken McGowen to change clothing, McGowen had verbally 

stated that he did not want to. 5RP 45. 

Then, while sitting in court on April 13, 2011, McGowen took 

earplugs out of his shirt pocket and placed them into his ears. 8RP 8-

9. The jail officer motioned for McGowen to remove the earplugs, but 

McGowen stated, "No." 8RP 10. When court convened the next 

morning, McGowen wore earplugs again. 9RP 2. The jail officer 

approached and motioned for McGowen to take the earplugs out; 

McGowen initially started to take them out so that he could hear the 

officer, but then shook his head "no," and left them in. 9RP 2-3. 

McGowen's attorneys again expressed their concern about his 

competency based on his refusal to communicate with them. 9RP 3-7. 

The State pointed out that McGowen's refusal to participate was 

nothing new, and that his demeanor in recent jail phone calls 

demonstrated a conscious decision not to participate or to assist his 

attorneys. 9RP 6-7. The court noted that McGowen had been found 

competent just two months earlier despite his refusal to assist his 

attorneys, and indicated that it would listen to McGowen's recent jail 

phone calls. 9RP 7-9. 
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That same morning during jury selection, three jurors 

expressed the viewpoint that despite the presumption of innocence, 

they would require the defense to disprove the charges. 9RP 65-67. 

In response to this discussion, McGowen launched into an angry 

outburst about how the State was "trying to take my life" and trying "to 

put me in prison for the rest of my life." 9RP 67. He stated, among 

other things, "Take the blood of the lamb in this courtroom." III The 

defendant rambled about how he had only been "helping this woman 

out," and now she was trying to send him to prison, and continued to 

make religious statements. 9RP 70. 

Following McGowen's outburst, his lawyers renewed their 

concerns about his competency. 9RP 74-77. The State provided the 

court with McGowen's jail phone calls that included a call he had made 

as recently as three days earlier, on April 11, 2011 . 9RP 79, 101; 

1 ORP 27-28; Pretrial Ex. 3. 

Defense counsel asked for a formal competency evaluation. 

9RP 90. The prosecutor stated, "If the Court does not believe that the 

defense has made any showing that there is a competency issue, 

which is the State's position, then I think the Court needs to make a 

record of that and then we proceed as normal." 2RP 91. The court 

decided to permanently excuse the jury venire and recess for the 
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weekend, after which it would decide whether to order a second 

competency evaluation. 9RP 98, 102. 

After the weekend recess, McGowen refused to come back to 

court. 1 ORP 2-3. Defense counsel stated that she still had concerns 

regarding his competency. 1 ORP 3. Counsel also indicated that her 

concerns could not be addressed without revealing privileged 

information, and asked the court to hear from her in camera. 1 ORP 3, 

19. The court agreed, and sealed the transcript of the proceeding. 4 

10RP 20-25. 

During the in camera hearing, counsel revealed that she had 

gone to see McGowen after his outburst the week before. As she 

approached his cell from a direction where he could not see her, she 

had observed him with his shirt over his head, rocking back and forth. 

He did not acknowledge her presence. 10RP 21-22. The next day 

when she went back to visit McGowen, she was able to have a 40-

minute conversation with him and that he "did not remember his 

outburst in court." 1 ORP 22. McGowen told her that he remembered 

being in the courtroom and "praying to himself," and then the next 

thing he knew he was in a cell. 1 ORP 23. McGowen's attorney also 

informed the court that he continued to maintain that he had done 

4 The superior court later ordered the transcript unsealed for purposes of this 
appeal. CP 405-06. 
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nothing to Barraza, and that he still seemed unable to assist in his 

defense. 1 ORP 23. Counsel had told McGowen that she thought he 

should wear street clothes to trial, sit with counsel and assist them, but 

he told her that he would not. 1 ORP 24-25. Finally, counsel disclosed 

in camera that just that morning, when McGowen learned that the jail 

was going to require him to come to court, he stated that he was being 

"kidnapped" and refused to speak to counsel further. 10RP 23-24. 

After the in camera hearing, the court heard testimony from a 

jail officer who had recently interacted with McGowen. 1 ORP 39-42. 

The officer had no problem communicating with McGowen and 

observed him communicating normally with other people in the unit. 

1 ORP 42-43. Judge Prochnau indicated that McGowen's behavior 

may well be a "pattern of malingering," but acknowledged that 

significant weight was to be given to defense counsel's opinion. 

10RP 56-57. The court ordered a second competency evaluation. 

CP 119-23; 1 ORP 57. 

McGowen again refused to participate in the competency 

evaluation. CP 129; 11 RP 4. Even so, Dr. Gagliardi determined that 

McGowen did not exhibit sufficient evidence of a mental impairment 

that would render him unable to understand the proceedings or to 

assist counsel. CP 130. Specifically, Dr. Gagliardi listened to 

McGowen's recent jail phone calls, reviewed the transcript of his 
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outburst in court, reviewed his prior Western State Hospital records, 

and considered the recent 24-hour observations of McGowen at 

Western State,5 to conclude that there was insufficient evidence that 

McGowen suffered from an acute major mental disorder. CP 129-30. 

On June 7, 2011, the parties convened for a competency 

hearing in front of Judge Prochnau. 12RP 2. Defense counsel stated 

her belief that "although [McGowen] may be all right in a fairly 

controlled environment ... when he is in the stress of a trial, he 

doesn't really manage stress all that welL" 12RP 3-4. McGowen's 

attorney stated that she did not have an expert opinion to contradict 

Dr. Gagliardi's report, and indicated that she "[did not] know what else 

to do except to voice that I still have [competency concerns]." 12RP 4. 

She did not object to the court's consideration of Dr. Gagliardi's report, 

nor did she ask to examine Dr. Gagliardi either in-person or by 

telephone. 

In response, the prosecutor argued that there was no showing 

that McGowen was incompetent and that his outburst in court itself 

demonstrated that he understood the nature of the proceedings and 

also described a defense that he could easily communicate to his 

attorneys if he wanted to. 12RP 5-6. When the prosecutor pointed out 

5 Staff observed no psychotic symptoms and no symptoms of an acute mood 
disorder. CP 129. McGowen had angry outbursts that appeared volitional rather 
than caused by a mental disorder. l.Q" 
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that McGowen simply refused to cooperate with anyone, McGowen 

stated, 'That's cause I ain't got nothing .... I am very competent." 

12RP 6. 

After reviewing Dr. Gagliardi's reports, listening to McGowen's 

jail phone calis, and hearing from the parties, the court determined that 

McGowen was competent. CP 124-25; 12RP 6-8. 

b. The Court Followed Proper Statutory Procedures 
To Find McGowen Competent. 

A defendant is incompetent if he "lacks the capacity to 

understand the nature of the proceedings against him or her or to 

assist in his or her own defense as a result of mental disease or 

defect." RCW 10.77.010(14); State v. Lord, 117 Wn.2d 829, 900, 822 

P.2d 177 (1991). The constitutional right to a fair trial prevents an 

incompetent defendant from being convicted. Pate v. Robinson, 383 

U.S. 375, 378, 386 S. Ct. 836, 15 L. Ed. 2d 815 (1966). Due process 

requires that state procedures be adequate to prevent the conviction 

of an incompetent defendant. Drape v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162, 

171-72,95 S. Ct. 896,43 L. Ed. 2d 103 (1975). In Washington, an 

"incompetent person" may not be tried, convicted, or sentenced for an 

offense so long as the incapacity continues. RCW 10.77.050; State v. 

Heddrick, 166 Wn.2d 898, 903-04, 215 P.3d 201 (2009). 
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Once the court makes a threshold determination that there is a 

reason to doubt the defendant's competency, it has an obligation to 

employ the statutory procedures of RCW 10.77 to determine 

competency. City of Seattle v. Gordon, 39 Wn. App. 437, 441, 693 

P.2d741 (1985); Lord, 117Wn.2dat901. The failure to properly 

observe these statutory procedures is a denial of due process. 

Heddrick, 166 Wn.2d at 904 (citing State v. O'Neal, 23 Wn. App. 899, 

901,600 P.2d 570 (1979)). In pertinent part, RCW 10.77.060(1)(a) 

provides that: 

Whenever a defendant has pleaded not guilty by reason 
of insanity, or there is reason to doubt his or her 
competency, the court on its own motion or on the 
motion of any party shall either appoint or request the 
secretary to designate at least two qualified experts or 
professional persons, one of whom shall be approved by 
the prosecuting attorney, to examine and report upon 
the mental condition of the defendant. 

RCW 10.77.060(1 )(a). The expert's report and recommendation must 

be provided to the court. RCW 10.77.065(1 )(a)(i). 

Therefore, in order to protect a defendant's right to due 

process, when there is a reason to doubt a defendant's competency, 

"[T]he trial court must appoint experts and order a formal competency 

hearing." State v. Marshall, 144 Wn.2d 266, 278, 27 P.3d 192 (2001) 

abrogated on other grounds by State v. Sisouvanh, 175 Wn.2d 607, 

290 P.3d 942 (2012). 
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The trial court properly followed these statutory procedures for 

determining competency once it found a reason to doubt McGowen's 

competency. The court ordered that a psychological evaluation be 

performed and that a report regarding McGowen's mental condition be 

provided.6 CP 119-23. Following receipt of the report, the court held a 

hearing on McGowen's competency. 12RP 2-8 . The court reviewed 

Dr. Gagliardi's reports from December 11, 2010 and May 22,2011. CP 

31-36,127-31; 12RP 3, 6. It considered recent telephone calls made 

by McGowen from the jail. 12RP 7-8; Pretrial Ex. 3. It had the 

opportunity to observe McGowen's appearance and conduct in court. 

12RP 7. It heard argument from the parties. 12RP 3-6. At the 

conclusion of the hearing, the court exercised its discretion to 

determine that McGowen was competent. 12RP 6-8. The court 

entered formal written findings of fact and conclusions of law. CP 119-

23. In sum, McGowen's right to due process was protected by the 

court's adherence to the statutory procedures found in RCW 10.77. 

McGowen cites to no authority for his claim that a more 

extensive competency hearing with testimony from Dr. Gagliardi was 

necessary to meet constitutional safeguards. The Due Process 

6 McGowen specifically waived the requirement of two evaluators. CP 122. The 
statutory requirement that two experts be appointed to examine a defendant may 
be waived by counsel. State v. Israel, 19 Wn. App. 773, 779, 577 P.2d 631 
(1978). 
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Clause does not require the State to adopt a procedure simply 

because that procedure may produce results more favorable to the 

defendant. Medina v. California, 505 U.S. 437, 451, 112 S. Ct. 2572, 

120 L. Ed. 2d 353 (1992). The Supreme Court has explained: 

[A] state procedure "does not run foul of the Fourteenth 
Amendment because another method may seem to our 
thinking to be fairer or wiser or to give a surer promise of 
protection to the prisoner at the bar." 

~ at 451 (quoting Snyder v. Massachusetts, 291 U.S. 97, 105, 54 

S. Ct. 330, 78 L. Ed. 674 (1934)). Due process requires only the most 

basic procedural safeguards; "more subtle balancing of society's 

interests against those of the accused ha[s] been left to the legislative 

branch." Medina, 505 U.S. at 453 (quoting Patterson v. New York, 

432 U.S. 197,210,97 S. Ct. 2319, 53 L. Ed. 2d 281 (1977)). 

Here, no expert had reached a conclusion contrary to 

Dr. Gagliardi's, and McGowen makes no compelling argument that 

testimony from Dr. Gagliardi would have added anything under the 

circumstances of his case.? McGowen refused to be interviewed and 

objective observation revealed no evidence that he suffered from a 

mental impairment that would render him incompetent. CP 129-30. 

Indeed, at the competency hearing itself, defense counsel 

7 McGowen's trial counsel appears to have acknowledged as much at the 
competency hearing. Noting that McGowen had refused to be inteNiewed by the 
defense expert, counsel stated, "I don't know what else to do except to voice that 
I still have [competency] concern[s]. " 12RP 4. 
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acknowledged that "we don't have an expert opinion" to contradict a 

finding of competency. 12RP 4. McGowen's argument, that due